2005

Venna M. Swalsberg Lange, Trustee of the Carl A. Swalsberg Family Trust v. David Eby : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

David Eby's appeal is from a final order¹ entered by the Third Judicial District Court of Summit County, State of Utah. That court is a "court of record." UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-1-2.1(3) (1988). Therefore, the Utah Supreme Court has original appellate jurisdiction over the final order of that court. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (2001); Utah R. Civ. P. 3 and 4. The Utah Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals which also has appellate jurisdiction over cases transferred from the Supreme Court. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(4) (2001) and § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2001). Therefore, jurisdiction is proper in this Court. In fact, this Court already has expressly ruled that it has jurisdiction over this appeal. *See Order Partially Dismissing Appeal And Denying Stay*, entered in this matter on April 5, 2005, page 2.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

A. Issue

Did the trial court err in not granting Defendant David Eby relief, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b), from the judgment entered against him which did not give him the benefit of a credit for Plaintiff's settlement with Co-defendant Geary Construction, Inc. Plaintiff's settlement with Co-defendant Geary Construction, Inc. was for an amount far in excess of the amount of that Co-defendant's share of liability and even was in excess

¹This Court has ruled that an order denying relief under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) constitutes a final appealable order. *See Order Partially Dismissing Appeal And Denying Stay*, entered in this matter on April 5, 2005, page 2 (citing *Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 970 (Utah Ct. App, 1989)).

of the Plaintiff's total damages as determined by the jury. UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-4-3 (1953) provides that the amount or value received by a tort obligee from one tort obligor "shall be credited" against the obligation of all co-obligors. Unless Section 15-4-3 is invalid, the trial court erred in not granting Defendant David Eby relief from a judgment that did not give him the credit mandated by that statute. In determining the validity of Section 15-4-3, this Court will have to decide if that statute was **implicitly** repealed by the enactment of UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-27-37 *et seq.* (1986, as amended).²

B. Standard of Review

Usually, a ruling on a motion for relief from judgment will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *Birch v. Birch*, 771 P.2d 1114, 1117 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). However, that is because of the factual nature of many of the reasons for such relief. Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) (such fact intensive reasons include inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, newly discovered evidence that could not be discovered earlier, misrepresentation, misconduct, etc.). *E.g.*, *Birch*, 771 P.2d at 1117-18 (no abuse of discretion where divorce decree was based on the fact of the parties' stipulation). However, when the ruling results from a misinterpretation of law, the proper standard of review should be correction-of-error. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994) ("the effect of a given set of facts is a question of law and, therefore, one on which an appellate court owes no deference to a trial court's determination"). In the case at bar, the trial court's ruling is predicated upon its interpretation of the law. The specific fact of

²These pertinent statutes are included in the Addendum.

Plaintiff's receipt in settlement from one tort obligor of more than the total damages the jury determined she sustained is not disputed. The trial court denied relief from the judgment which had provided no credit for the settlement only because the trial court decided that the statute requiring such a credit (UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-4-3) had been implicitly repealed by the enactment of UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-27-37 *et seq.* (1986, as amended). The correction-of-error standard applies to this case because the interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law. *Taylor v. Johnson*, 1999 UT 35, ¶6, 977 P.2d 479,480; *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Aspen Construction*, 1999 UT App 87, ¶10, 977 P.2d 518, 521. *See also Jorgensen v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 769 P.2d 809, 811 (Utah 1988) (the proper allocation of payments made to a judgment creditor is a question of law).

C. Preservation of Issue Below

This issue of a credit for the Geary Construction settlement was raised below at several times in different ways. It was raised first in Eby's Motion For Admission Of Evidence Regarding Remediation And, If Necessary, For Short Continuance Of Trial For Remediation To Be Completed. R. 777-789. As explained below, the trial court did not rule on this legal issue before trial. Consequently, the trial court was reminded of this issue after trial in Defendant David Eby's Objections To Plaintiff's Proposed Judgment. R. 1170-77. The issue was further briefed in Eby's Motion To Be Credited With Geary Construction, Inc.'s \$140,000 Settlement With Plaintiff. R. 1181-92, 1238-42. When the judgment was entered before a ruling on this legal issue, it was raised again in Eby's

Motion For Relief From Judgment. R. 1193-1209, 1229-34.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTE

The validity of the following statute is determinative of the issue before this Court on appeal:

The amount or value of any consideration received by the obligee from one or more of several obligors, or from one or more of joint or of joint and several obligors, in whole or in partial satisfaction of their obligations shall be credited to the extent of the amount received on the obligation of all co-obligors to whom the obligor or obligors giving the consideration did not stand in the relation of a surety.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 15-4-3 (1953) (emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Plaintiff/Appellee, Venna M. Swalsberg Lange (“Lange”), is the trustee for the Carl A. Swalsberg Family Trust which owns real property near the National Forest in Summit County. R. 2; Plaintiff’s Exhibits P-21 and P-27. For at least fifty years that property has had a narrow dirt road extending through it for foot and vehicular traffic. R. 3. Defendant/Appellant, David Eby (“Eby”), also owns real property in Summit County further up the canyon from Lange’s property, and the dirt road through Lange’s property is, and has been used by Eby and the general public to get to and from their property and for access to National Forest lands. R. 3, 1326 (Tr. 18-41, 179-85); Defendant’s Exhibits 102 and 103.

Lange brought trespass and negligence claims for damage to her real property. R.

1-8; 1130-41. This resulted from Eby contracting with Co-defendant Geary Construction, Inc. (“Geary”) to have Geary widen the subject road in certain especially narrow locations, including some locations where that road went through Lange’s property. In those places, the road was widened from 10 feet to approximately 16 feet so that two vehicles safely could pass each other without one or the other backing up. R. 3, 1326; Plaintiff’s Exhibits P-3 and P-4. Eby had the work done by Geary, believing he had Summit County’s written permission to do so. R. 33-35, 45, 1326; Defendant’s Exhibits 100 and 101. Summit County was not brought into the suit by Lange, but Geary was a party and agreed just before trial to settle with Lange for what was determined to be a total value of \$140,000. R. 1083-84.³ Although Eby was the only defendant at trial, the question of the apportionate share of fault of both Summit County and Geary also was submitted to the jury. R. 1144-45.

Upon learning of the settlement, Eby filed a pretrial motion to be able to inform the jury of the remedial work Geary agreed to do on Lange’s property as part of the settlement, so that the jury would not award damages for remedial work that, pursuant to Geary’s agreement, no longer needed to be done. R. 777-89, 1046-49. The trial court denied Eby’s request and stated in its pretrial ruling: “If a verdict is rendered against Eby, the court will invite further argument and briefing on whether whatever award plaintiff receives from the jury as a verdict against Eby ought to be reduced by whatever is

³The amount of the value of this settlement, \$140,000, was obtained from DeAnn Geary during trial, out of the presence of the jury. It consisted of the payment of money and remedial landscaping work. R. 1081; Defendant’s Exhibit 104. This amount has not been disputed by Lange.

received from Geary in settlement The court believes that if a verdict is rendered against Eby the amount of that award can later be compared by the court with the settlement, including the value of remediation by Geary, to determine if indeed plaintiff is being compensated twice.” The trial court expressly ruled that it was not at that time ruling on the legal issue of whether Lange could recover more than Lange’s total damages as a result of the settlement. R. 1048-49.

During trial, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that the subject road was a public road. R. 1136. In making that ruling, the trial court further ruled that the width of that public road was “approximately ten (10) feet” in accordance with its historical use. *Id.* The trial court rejected Eby’s position that roads that become public through public use are deemed to be as wide as “reasonable and necessary to ensure safe travel,” per Utah Code § 72-5-104. R. 884-86. Indeed, Eby argued that in Summit County, the “minimum right-of-way width for a public road shall be sixty (60) feet.” Eastern Summit County Development Code, Chapter 6, § 6.60(B)(3). R. 605, 885. Nevertheless, the trial court allowed Lange to recover damages for any destruction of trees and shrubbery on her property that was outside that narrow road width of ten feet. R. 1136.

In this generous measure of damage context, the jury returned a special verdict that found Lange to have suffered only \$15,000 for damages to her trees and \$20,000 for other damages due to trespass, and an additional \$20,000 due to negligence. R. 1168. Eby was found to have been 85% at fault, with Geary 5% and Summit County 10%. R. 1169.⁴

⁴Lange also was awarded \$1,000 in punitive damages.

That verdict was entered July 8, 2004. R. 1157.

As contemplated by the trial court's pretrial ruling described above, Eby immediately began to prepare his motion on the issue of the credit to which he believed he was entitled because of the \$140,000 settlement Lange received from Geary.

On July 12, 2004, four days after the verdict, Lange filed and served her proposed form of judgment. R. 1165. **The trial court entered it the next day on July 13, 2004.** R. 1163-64. Not knowing the judgment had been entered by the trial court, Eby filed on July 15, 2004 his Objections To Plaintiff's Proposed Judgment. R. 1170-75. Therein Eby took the unequivocal position that "no judgment should be entered until the issues raised by these objections, and the issue of the credit to which Eby is entitled from Geary's settlement with Lange, is ruled upon by the Court." R. 1170.

Believing his objections to the proposed judgment had yet to be considered, and not knowing that the judgment had been entered, Eby then filed in support of his objections Eby's Motion To Be Credited With Geary Construction, Inc.'s \$140,000 Settlement With Plaintiff, and supporting memorandum. R. 1181-92. The issue of the credit to be given Eby is the issue the trial court previously ruled that it would consider should a verdict be entered against Eby. R. 1048-49. This motion was mailed to the trial court for filing on July 16, 2004. R. 1182, 1191.

When Eby's counsel discovered on July 20, 2004 that Lange's proposed judgment in fact had been entered by the trial court before it even received Eby's objections and before it had more fully considered the issue of the credit, Eby immediately filed Eby's

Motion For Relief From Judgment. R. 1193-1209. That motion is dated and was mailed to the trial court for filing, and served on Lange, on July 20, 2004, only one week after the entry of the judgment which Eby sought through this latest motion to have vacated. *Id.* This motion was brought in accordance with Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). This rule, Eby argued, should be applied to grant Eby relief from the judgment because the trial court had not applied the law pertaining to Eby's right to be credited with the \$140,000 settlement Lange received from Geary, and had not even allowed Eby to be heard on this issue. R. 1198-99.

On December 12, 2004, the trial court heard oral argument and ruled from the bench, denying Eby's Motion to be Credited with the Geary Settlement and the subsequent Motion for Relief from Judgment relating to the same issue. The trial court concluded that Eby was not entitled by law to be credited with any portion of Geary's \$140,000 settlement payment to Lange, adopting Lange's argument that the statutory provision that requires this credit was implicitly repealed by the Liability Reform Act. R. 1278-82. Lange's counsel was to submit proposed written orders. R. 1281. Because Utah R. Civ. P. 7(f)(2) requires proposed written orders to be submitted within 15 days after the Court's decision, Lange's counsel had until December 21, 2004 to submit proposed written orders to Eby. **That was not done.**

When the mandatory deadline for the submission of proposed written orders passed, Eby filed his Notice Of Appeal on December 27, 2004. R. 1287-89. Written orders finally were submitted to Eby and were entered by the trial court on January 6,

2005. R.1314-19. Eby now submits this brief on appeal in support of why the trial court should be reversed in its ruling as expressed in its Order Denying Eby's Motion For Relief From Judgment. That order should be reversed, and as a consequence the judgment should be vacated, for the reasons discussed herein.

This appeal does not include, because of this Court's April 5, 2005 Order Partially Denying Appeal And Denying Stay, a request that the trial court be reversed for its denial of Eby's motion to alter or amend the judgment. This appeal now only includes the request that the trial court be reversed in its denial of Eby's motion for relief from the judgment. The first motion was in the nature of a Utah R. Civ. P. 52(b) or 59(e) motion, and the latter a Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) motion. Although the substance of both motions pertain to the credit to which Eby is entitled by law, this Court can fully rule on this issue and grant Eby relief from the judgment because of the trial court's denial of Eby's Rule 60(b) motion, the order that still is at issue in this appeal. The law requires Eby to be credited with Geary's settlement payment to Lange, and the judgment did not do this. The judgment can be ruled by this Court to be a judicial mistake, and that it has been satisfied, discharged or is void as a matter of law. This Court can also grant relief from this judgment for the reason that it is not equitable that it should have prospective application and for the miscellaneous reasons of subsection (6) of Rule 60(b).

Eby herein discusses the difference in his two motions and the trial court's two orders because of this Court's April 5, 2005 ruling wherein it denied having jurisdiction over the earlier, Utah R. Civ. P. 52(b) or 59(e), motion and order because Eby's Notice Of

Appeal was filed after the oral ruling but before the entry of the written order. This Court's ruling is based upon a technical reading of Utah R. App. P. 4(b) and (c) that does not extend the common sense provision of Rule 4(c) to motions filed pursuant to Rule 4(b). Eby proceeds to prosecute this appeal on the basis of what this Court expressly has allowed, *i.e.*, a review of "the grounds for denial of the rule 60(b) motion." See Order Partially Dismissing Appeal And Denying Stay, page 2.

B. Statement of Facts

Geary was a named defendant who was alleged to be a co-obligor with Eby for the same real property damage Lange claimed to suffer. All of Lange's tort claims for relief were alleged against both Eby and Geary. R. 1-8. In her prayer, Lange sought the same type and amount of damages from both Eby and Geary. R. 7. There never has been any claim or evidence that a surety relationship existed between Geary and Eby. Geary, on its own, settled before trial for a total value to Lange of \$140,000. R. 1083-84.⁵ The jury was informed that Geary settled but was not informed of the amount of remuneration received by Lange from Geary, including what was received through remedial work. R. 1145. Therefore, the jury determined the full extent of Lange's alleged damages, without knowing about and without making any reduction for any payment from or remedial work by Geary. The jury found that both Eby and Geary were at fault for Lange's real property damage and that the total amount she was entitled to receive to make her whole amounted to no more than \$57,000. R. 1155-56. On that verdict, a judgment was entered for Lange

⁵See *supra* note 3.

and against Eby for \$47,750 more than what Lange already had received from Geary. R. 1163-64. If Lange is allowed to recover from Eby on this judgment, she will receive a total of \$187,750, to compensate her for a judicially determined loss of \$57,000. She will receive a windfall of over 300%.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Eby a credit for the Geary settlement that was above Geary's share of fault and even above Lange's total damages. There are good policy reasons for allowing the credit. Significantly, the failure to allow a credit promotes litigation without risk, or in other words a form of gambling that results in recoveries that exceed the amount of damages incurred. The law should remain what it always has been; it should limit plaintiffs to one recovery for their damages. The fact that some tort law has changed through tort reform has no applicability to the separate and independent "one recovery rule."

The one recovery rule is codified and that legislation has not been repealed by subsequent tort reform. Neither should the one recovery rule be deemed implicitly repealed. The rules of statutory construction require there to be irreconcilable conflicts between a recent statute and a former statute before there can be an implicit repeal. Statutes must be construed to be in harmony with each other. The more recent tort reform legislation is not in conflict, to any extent, with the codified one recovery rule. This Court should reject Lange's invitation, accepted by the trial court, to judicially legislate new law in Utah.

Since the trial court erroneously rejected statutory law, this Court should correct that legal error. That legal error is a judicial mistake. It resulted in the erroneous conclusion that Eby was not entitled to a credit and, therefore, that the judgment was not satisfied. It resulted in the erroneous legal conclusion that the judgment should be enforced thereby giving it prospective application until paid by Eby. It resulted in the grave injustice that Eby continues to be subject to a judgment that the legislature intended the law to disallow.

The trial court never should have entered the judgment in the first place. Doing so was legal error because it was entered before even allowing Eby time to object. It was entered despite an earlier ruling that the legal issue of the credit was to be resolved before any judgment on a verdict against Eby would be entered. It was entered before allowing the legal issue of the effect of the credit to be fully addressed. Despite these judicial mistakes and equitable reasons for relief, the trial court refused to grant Eby relief from the judgment.

This Court should reverse the erroneous ruling of the trial court and grant Eby complete relief from the judgment as a matter of law.

Should the judgment be affirmed, plaintiff will receive a windfall of over 300 percent of what the jury found to be her damages. She also will have the benefit of a wider, and safer, road. This Court should assure that justice and equity is applied in this case.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Eby's Rule 60(b) motion. The trial court erroneously concluded that Eby was not legally entitled to be credited with any portion of Geary's \$140,000 settlement with Lange which Geary provided to compensate Lange for her real property damage. The underlying legal conclusion for the trial court's ruling should be corrected, and this Court now should assure that Eby is given the benefit of the credit required by law.

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