2005

Venna M. Swlasberg Lange, Carl A. Swalsberg Family Trust v. David Eby : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has already dismissed Eby’s appeal from the final judgment and his post-judgment motion to alter or amend the judgment to credit him with the proceeds received by Lange from the Geary settlement because the appeal was not timely filed. The sole argument raised by Eby in his brief is that the district court erred in not crediting the settlement proceeds to the judgment. Eby has no right to raise this argument on appeal from the denial of his Rule 60(b) motion. That motion was based upon the alleged fact that the judgment was entered irregularly before Eby’s objections to the judgment were decided. Indeed, this court and the Supreme Court have squarely held that Rule 60(b) cannot be utilized to complain that a district court wrongly decided points of law.

Even if Eby could raise this issue on his appeal from the denial of his Rule 60(b) motion, the district court correctly decided that Eby was not entitled to be credited with the proceeds of the settlement. Section 15-4-3 of the JOA has been superceded by the comparative negligence provisions of the LRA. Section 15-4-3 only applies where two or

more defendants have *shared* liability. Eby shared no liability with Geary. Rather, under the LRA, they were each only liable for their proportionate share of the fault. Eby has already had his liability reduced to his proportion of the total fault. He is not entitled to a further reduction for the settlement proceeds that Lange received when she settled Geary's proportion of the fault. Eby's argument that he is entitled to a further reduction of the judgment against him to eliminate any liability based upon Geary's payment would result in an enormous windfall to Eby and is totally contradictory to the purpose of the LRA which eliminated both joint and several liability and contribution among joint tortfeasors. Cases in other jurisdictions have squarely rejected Eby's position. Lange is entitled to the benefit of her bargain that she negotiated with Geary.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. EBY HAS NO RIGHT TO RAISE HIS SETTLEMENT CREDIT ARGUMENT ON HIS APPEAL OF THE DENIAL OF HIS RULE 60(b) MOTION.

This court previously dismissed Eby's appeal of the final judgment against him and the denial of his settlement credit motion on the basis that the appeal was not timely. This court ruled that Eby only had the right to appeal from the denial from his motion for "relief from the judgment under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure based upon alleged irregularities in entering the judgment prior to expiration to the time for

making objections.” (Order at p. 2.) Lange previously filed a motion to strike Eby’s brief and to summarily dismiss the appeal because rather than arguing about the supposed irregularities in entering the judgment prior to time for making objections, Eby has attempted to raise in his brief his argument about the failure of the district court to credit the judgment against him with the amount of the Geary settlement, which argument this court has already foreclosed by dismissing Eby’s appeal of the final judgment and the denial of his settlement credit motion. The court has not yet ruled on Lange’s motion. Lange will therefore briefly discuss this issue.

As demonstrated in more detail in Lange’s motion to strike Eby’s brief and summarily dismiss the appeal, Eby’s Rule 60(b) motion “pertained to procedural and clerical mistakes and the need to rule on Mr. Eby’s first motion (to be credited with the settlement proceeds) before the correct judgment could be known.” (Eby Memo. in Opp. to Mot. for Sum. Disposition at p. 3.) Eby acknowledged that “[t]he first motion requested that the judgment be amended to reflect that Mr. Eby owes nothing to Plaintiff for the reasons stated therein (i.e., that Eby was entitled to credited with the amount of the Geary Settlement).” *Id.* Nevertheless, the sole argument made in Eby’s brief is that the district court committed a mistake within the meaning of Rule 60(b) by refusing to credit the proceeds of the Geary settlement in the amount of \$140,000 to erase any liability that Eby has to Lange under the final judgment. However, this court has already ruled that Eby did not timely appeal the district court’s refusal to credit the judgment with the Geary

settlement proceeds. Eby is not entitled to another bite of the apple on the pretext of including his dismissed argument as part of his appeal of the denial of his Rule 60(b) motion.

Eby's only purported justification for arguing about the settlement credit in his brief is that:

The law requires Eby to be credited with Geary's settlement payment to Lange [the law in fact has no such requirement]. . . . The judgment can be ruled by this Court to be a judicial mistake, and that it has been satisfied, discharged, or is void as a matter of law. . . [and] [t]his Court can also grant relief from the judgment for the reason that it is no longer equitable that it should have prospective application and for the miscellaneous reasons of subsection (6) of Rule 60(b). (Eby Brief at p. 9.)

Not only is Eby's attempt to argue as part of his appeal of the denial of his Rule 60(b) motion that the court committed judicial mistake in refusing to credit the proceeds of the Geary settlement foreclosed by this court's Order, but it is also foreclosed by the Supreme Court's decision in *Fischer v. Bybee*, 2004 UT 92, 104 P.3d 1198. In *Fischer*, the Supreme Court approved this court's ruling in *Franklin Covey Client Sales, Inc. v. Melvin*, 2000 Ut. App. 110, ¶ 22, 2 P.3d 451 which "categorically removed legal error from the realm of mistake recognized under Rule 60(b)(1) and "pared back its definition of judicial 'mistake' to include only the correction of 'a minor oversight, such as the omission of damages, which in most cases would be obvious.'" 2004 UT 92 at ¶ 11. The Supreme Court agreed with the conclusion of the *Franklin Covey* court that "[i]n sum, 'if

a court merely wrongly decides a point of law, that is not [mistake], inadvertence, surprise, or excusable negligent.”” *Id.* at ¶ 12. [brackets by the court]

Consequently, even if it were wrongly assumed for purposes of argument that the district court erroneously concluded that Eby was not entitled to a credit for the Geary settlement, Eby could not raise that alleged error on a Rule 60(b) motion.

B. SECTION 15-4-3 OF THE JOINT OBLIGATIONS ACT DOES NOT APPLY IN THE CASE AT BAR.

Eby argues at length in his brief that the LRA, Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-37, *et seq.*, does not supercede Utah Code Ann. § 15-4-3 of the JOA and that Lange would receive a windfall if Eby is not credited with the proceeds she received from the Geary settlement. These arguments ignore the fundamental change in Utah law effected by the LRA which (except for very narrow situations such as vicarious liability) abolished joint and several liability and made each defendant liable only in proportion to that defendant’s percentage of fault. To further reduce a defendant’s liability by amounts paid by other defendants to settle their percentage share of the fault would be totally inconsistent with the purpose of the LRA.¹ In fact, it is Eby who seeks to obtain an enormous windfall in this case.

¹ Eby devotes a good deal of space to reciting general rules of statutory construction to attempt to support his argument that the LRA did not affect Section 15-4-3. (Eby Brief at pp. 17-19.) Eby relies principally upon the Supreme Court’s decision in *Murray City v. Hall*, 663 P.2d 1314, 1318 (Utah 1983). That case does not assist Eby because the Supreme Court determined that an existing statute providing that a person who was driving under the influence if he or she had a blood alcohol content of .08% or greater was inconsistent with the legislature purpose in enacting a new statute making it illegal to drive with a blood alcohol content of .10% or greater and therefore the prior

Section 15-4-3 of the JOA provides:

The amount or value of any consideration received by the obligee from one or more of several obligors, or for one or more of joint or joint and several obligors, in whole or in partial satisfaction *of their obligations* shall be credited to the extent of the amount received *on the obligations of all co-obligors* to whom the obligor or obligors giving the consideration did not stand in relation of a surety [emphasis added].

This court's interpretation of section 15-4-3 in *Jorgensen v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 769 P.2d 809, 812 (Utah 1988) disposes of Eby's attempt to utilize that statute to escape his liability in the case at bar. In *Jorgensen*, this court opined:

[T]he language of Section 15-4-3 expressly limits the section's applicability to payments made in "satisfaction of *their* obligations." We find this usage of the word "their" indicative of the fact that the drafters had mind only such obligations as are shared by the obligors. . . . (Emphasis in original.)

In the case at bar, Geary and Eby did not have any shared obligation. They were each only liable to Lange in proportion to their percentage of the fault. The jury determined that Eby was 85% at fault, Geary was 5% at fault, and Summit County was 10% at fault. Lange only settled her claim against Geary for *Geary's* percentage of the

statute was impliedly repealed to the extent that it conflicted with the purpose of the new statute. That same situation applies here. Section 15-4-3 is inconsistent with the purpose of the comparative negligence statutes which make each person only liable for his or her own fault.

fault. She did not settle Eby's percentage of the fault and expressly reserved her rights against Eby.

Prior to the enactment of the LRA and its abolishment of joint and several liability, it made perfect sense to reduce the amount that a plaintiff could recover from non-settling defendants by amounts paid by settling defendants toward the shared liability of all of the defendants. If a plaintiff settled with one of the defendants for less than the full amount of the plaintiff's damages, the plaintiff was still entitled to recover the remaining amount of the damages from the non-settling defendants. As among each other, the defendants had the right of contribution to equalize their payments toward satisfaction of the shared liability. In this context, it was only logical that amounts paid by one settling defendant would be credited towards the full amount of the shared liability.

The LRA changed all that. A plaintiff now settles with a defendant at the plaintiff's own risk. If the plaintiff settles with the defendant for less than what a jury later determines was the defendant's percentage of fault, the plaintiff is the loser and cannot recover the difference from the other defendants. By the same token, if a plaintiff settles with a defendant for more than what the jury later determines was the settling defendant's share of the fault, the non-settling defendants have no right to credit any amount of the settlement towards their separate liability. Further, defendants no longer have the right of contribution among each other because they are not jointly and severally liable but are only liable for their proportionate share of the fault. Thus, to apply Section

15-4-3 of the JOA to further reduce – and in fact eliminate – Eby’s liability to Lange after Eby’s liability has already been reduced to his proportion of the fault would constitute a double reduction totally inconsistent with the purpose of the LRA.

Not surprisingly, Eby has been unable to cite one case which supports his misinterpretation of the law. Numerous cases decided in other jurisdictions having comparative negligence statutes have rejected his position.

For example, in *Glenn v. Flemming*, 732 P.2d 750, 755 (Kan. 1987), the court held that a non-settling defendant was not entitled to have the amount of the judgment entered against him reduced by the amount paid by another defendant to settle with plaintiff. The court held that the rule allowing a *pro tanto* reduction based on a settlement agreement does not apply where “tortfeasors are liable only for proportionate shares of harm”, citing Restatement (2d) of Torts Section 885(3) comment (a) (1977). The court stated:

An injured party whose claim for damages is exclusively subject to the Kansas comparative negligence statute may now settle with any person or entity whose fault may have contributed to injuries ***without that settlement in any way affecting his or her right to recover from any other party liable under the act.*** The injured party is entitled to keep the advantage of his or her bargaining, just as he or she must live with an inadequate settlement should the jury determine larger damages or a larger proportion of fault than the injured party anticipated when the settlement was reached. [Emphasis added.]

The *Glenn* court rejected the cases cited by the defendant on the basis those cases were “not persuasive because those cases are from jurisdictions which have not abrogated the concept of joint and several liability.” *Id.* at 731.

In *Gemstar Ltd. v. Ernst & Young*, 917 P.2d 222, 237 (Ariz. 1996) the Arizona Supreme Court held that when a defendant is liable for only his proportionate share, a reduction of judgment by the amount of the settlement is unwarranted, observing:

[R]educing plaintiff’s award by the amount of the settlement would undermine the policy justifications several only liability. Under several only liability, the defendant is liable only for the amount of plaintiff’s damages that is proportional to the defendant’s percentage of fault. Thus, offsetting a plaintiff’s damages by the amount of a non-party’s settlement is unnecessary because the defendant pays only his share of the damages. A contrary rule would (1) give the benefit of an advantageous settlement to the non-settling tortfeasor, rather than to the plaintiff who negotiated the settlement, (2) discourage some defendants from settling in anticipation of acquiring the benefits of the settlement of their co-tortfeasors, and (3) neglect to recognize the fact that settlement dollars are not synonymous with damages but merely a contractual estimate of the settling tortfeasor’s liability. [Citations and internal quotations omitted.]

To the same effect, see Kriser v. Hobbs, 166 F.3d 736, 742 (5th Cir. 1999) (the court refused to credit another defendant’s settlement and rejected defendant’s argument that he was entitled to reduce “its liability for damages twice: first, by the settling defendant’s share of fault; and second by the amount of that settlement, if greater”); *Nilsson v. Bierman*, 839 A.2d 25, 30-31 (N.H. 2003) (*pro tanto* credit does not apply when statute limited defendant’s liability to his proportionate share of damages).

Eby repeatedly cites this court's decision in *Nelson v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 935 P.2d 512 (Utah 1997) to attempt to support his position. *Nelson* is inapposite because it involved vicarious liability, in which situation the LRA does not apply. However, the Supreme Court recognized that the LRA would supercede or act as a *pro tanto* repeal of Section 15-4-4 of the JOA with respect "regular co-defendants" who are liable because of fault. *Id.* at 541, n. 3.

Eby's cry of "windfall" is misdirected. Lange did not receive a windfall. Lange settled her claim for compensatory *and punitive* damages against Geary for \$140,000. Although it turns out that the settlement may have been more than Geary would have had to pay had it tried the case,² that fact does not equal a "windfall". She bore the risk of that settlement, good or bad. Lange simply received the benefit of her bargain with Geary. It is Eby who is seeking to obtain an enormous windfall. Eby was found 85% at fault and the jury awarded \$1,000 in punitive damages against him for intentional and malicious conduct. Yet, according to Eby, he does not have to pay one cent because Geary has already paid all the damages. Even better for Eby, he faces no claim from Geary because the right of contribution was abolished by the LRA. Eby's position is not only in irreconcilable conflict with the purpose and effect of the LRA, but it would be poor public

² This is not a given because the jury may have awarded very substantial punitive damages against a large construction company. Moreover, Lange's experts opined that she suffered far greater damages than awarded by the jury, which Geary undoubtedly considered in agreeing to the settlement amount. The evidence was that the value of the trees destroyed by Eby was alone was more than \$100,000. (Exhibit P22.)

policy to accept Eby's argument because it would encourage defendants not to pay their fair share to settle a case in the hopes that other defendants would pay the liability.³

Eby incorrectly attaches significance to the fact that Section 75-27-43 of the LRA states that nothing in the LRA "affects or impairs . . . statutory immunity from liability." However, contrary to Eby's suggestion, Section 15-4-3 has nothing to do with statutory immunity but only with crediting a settlement payment made by one or more obligors toward an obligation shared by other obligors.

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